1980

The State of Utah v. Marvin Whittenback And John Joseph Parrett : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Appellants were charged with the crime of Theft, a Felony of the Third Degree, in violation of Sections 76-6-40 and 76-6-412, Utah Code Annotated (as amended), in that on or about the 26th day of March, 1979, they exercised unauthorized control over the property of another with intent to deprive that other of his property, such property being of a value of more than \$250.00 but not more than \$1,000.00.

BRIEF STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At approximately 1:00 A.M. of the day in question, Officer Geslison of the Provo City Police Department observed two individuals inside an all-night coin-operated laundry

in the City of Provo. Recognizing the individuals from prior contacts and knowing that they were not local residents (R. 41:15), he concluded without more that they might be in the act of robbing the laundry. The officer entered the premises to question the suspects and observed that the appellant Whittenback was sitting in a chair near the entrance and that the appellant Parrett was standing near a clothes-dryer in which several pairs of pants were being dried (R.40:14). They were in substantially the same positions as when he saw them from his patrol car, and had done nothing since he had first noticed them. (R. 40:30-41:4).

The officer began to question the appellants. Both answered that they were merely doing their laundry (R. 41:24-30). As the questioning continued, two other officers, Officers Mock and Latham, arrived in response to Officer Geslison's request for aid. One of the officers asked whether they could search the appellants' car, which was parked outside, and appellant Parrett, the owner of the car, gave his permission. (R. 42:27-43:4).

As Officers Mock and Latham conducted the search of the car, Officer Geslison ordered the appellants to empty their pockets (R.43:10-12). He had noticed that appellant Whittenback's pockets were bulging perceptibly, and on that basis demanded the search (R.43:14). Though neither of the appellants had been placed under official arrest at that

time, Parrett complied with the order, producing a ring of keys; Whittenback, however, refused to empty his pockets and demanded to know by what authority the officer could make such a demand. The officer asserted that he had the authority to search their pockets, and Whittenback thereafter moved to a table and emptied a large quantity of coins from his pockets. Officer Geslison then quickly patted down the clothing that appellant Whittenback was wearing, as part of the search.

At roughly the same time, Officer Mock, having discovered burglary tools in his search of the appellants' car, returned into the laundry and placed the appellants under arrest for possession of burglary tools (R.60:24; 65:19). The contents of the car were then inventoried at the scene (R.67:21).

The owner of the laundry examined the machines on the premises to determine whether any of their contents had been stolen. Fourteen machines had had their cash boxes emptied (R.15:18-24) but there was no record of what quantity of coins had been in them prior to that time. It was during the following several days that the owner examined the contents of the other machines on the premises to determine, by comparison, how much money may have been in those which were empty (R.16:27; 23:22). At trial, the owner testified that different machines hold different amounts of

money at different times of the year (R.26:3-15; 26:23-27:6), and that because he kept no accurate records of their contents and did not account for their proceeds on any regular basis, he could only guess as to the amount of money that may have been missing (R.24:11; 32:24-33:3). He testified that it was his estimate that \$600 to \$800 was missing.

Prior to trial, appellants moved to suppress all the items of evidence found in their pockets and in their car, which motion was denied at the close of trial. Appellants also moved for dismissal on the grounds of the State's failure to offer substantial evidence on the issue of value, but that motion was denied, as was their motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

Appellants were tried in the Fourth Judicial District Court of Utah County, the Honorable George E. Ballif presiding, on the 29th day of March, 1979. On the basis of the denials of appellants' motions and the verdict of the jury, appellants were adjudged guilty of the charges against them. Appellant Whittenback was sentenced on the 29th day of June, 1979, and appellant Parrett on the 12th day of October, 1979. Notice of appeal was timely filed by both appellants, and their cases were joined for the purposes of this appeal on the 30th day of October, 1979.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants respectfully request that the Court reverse the decision of the District Court denying their Motion to Suppress and enter an order requiring that all evidence produced as a result of the appellants' detention be suppressed. Appellants also request, in the alternative that the court reverse the decision of the District Court denying their Motions for Directed Verdict and Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict and enter an order granting them a judgment of innocence.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE DETENTION AND QUESTIONING OF THE APPELLANTS WAS A VIOLATION OF THEIR RIGHTS UNDER THE FOURTH AMENDMENT OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION, AND ALL EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS A RESULT OF THAT DETENTION AND QUESTIONING SHOULD HAVE BEEN EXCLUDED.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides, in part, that:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated . . .

It is undisputed that the requirements of the Fourth Amendment apply to a wide variety of situations in which law enforcement officers confront individuals for the purpose of investigating criminal activity. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 88 S.Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968): Adams

v. Williams, 407 U.S. 143, 92 S.Ct. 1921, 32 L. Ed. 2d 612 (1972). Whether the stopping and questioning of a person in a public place constitutes a search or seizure of his person for the purposes of the Amendment, and whether it is reasonable or unreasonable under the circumstances, are questions which are dealt with by the courts almost as often as they are confronted by the police. A number of clear principles have become established by the decisions of the courts which demonstrate under what circumstances the police may lawfully, without a warrant, approach an individual whom they suspect of criminal activity and initiate an interrogation. Appellants submit that under the facts of this case, the police violated those principles and were not justified in approaching the appellants and questioning them concerning their presence in the laundry, and that as a result of that unlawful conduct of the police, all evidence obtained in the ensuing events should have been excluded from the trial.

In Terry v. Ohio, an officer of the Cleveland police department was serving in a plainclothes capacity and observed two persons who attracted his closer attention. The persons were standing on a corner, and while the officer watched, one and then the other left the corner and walked some distance down the street and returned, pausing momentarily both ways to stop and look into a particular store window. They repeated the procedure five or six times each.

The officer concluded that they might be casing the store for a robbery, and he approached them to ask some questions. In the following interchange, he frisked the individuals for weapons.

The Supreme Court's opinion in the case deals primarily with the issue whether the limited pat-down search for weapons, not based upon a warrant nor upon probable cause sufficient to arrest, was justified. It specifically reserved the question, under what circumstances an officer is justified in approaching a suspicious person for the purpose of questioning. See opinion, note 16. However, its statements concerning the scope and effect of the Fourth Amendment are applicable to such a question, and since that is the crucial question in this case, it is valuable to discuss the opinion here.

In regard to any intrusion upon the privacy of an individual, the court stated:

[I]n justifying the particular intrusion the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion. Anything less would invite intrusions upon constitutionally guaranteed rights based on nothing more substantial than inarticulable hunches, a result this court has consistently refused to sanction. Terry, 392 U.S. at 22.

The court rejected the proposition that the good faith of the officer would be sufficient to limit the effect of the intrusion. Even under such a circumstance, the individual

might perceive the conduct of the police as harrassment or as a violation of his privacy.

Under our decisions, courts still retain their traditional responsibility to guard against police conduct which is overbearing or harrassing, or which trenches upon personal security without the objective evidentiary justification which the constitution requires. When such conduct is identified, it must be condemned by the judiciary and its fruits must be excluded from evidence in criminal trials. Id. at 15.

Although the persons questioned in Terry were not detained in their homes or in any other place where they would normally expect "privacy," the court held that their brief detention and questioning constituted a seizure for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment:

[W]herever an individual may harbor a reasonable expectation of privacy, [cite omitted], he is entitled to be free from unreasonable governmental intrusions. . . . Unquestionably petitioner was entitled to the protection of the Fourth Amendment as he walked down the street in Cleveland. * * * It is quite plain that the Fourth Amendment governs "seizures" of the person which do not eventuate in a trip to the station house and prosecution for a crime--"arrests" in traditional terminology. It must be recognized that whenever a police officer accosts an individual and restrains his freedom to walk away, he has "seized" that person. Id. 9, 14.

Appellants submit that the conduct of the officers in this case constituted such a seizure, and that since the police could point to no articulable facts which justified their belief that a crime was in progress, that seizure was unjustified. Testimony at the hearing on the motion to suppress and at trial indicated that Officer Geslison knew

nothing more than that the two individuals were in an all-night establishment doing their laundry, that they were from out-of-town, and that the hour was late. None of these facts singly nor together gives rise to a justifiable suspicion that the defendants were engaging in any criminal activity. The officer therefore acted unlawfully in approaching the appellants and interrogating them. For the purpose of argument, the facts that their car was subjected to a search and that they were compelled to empty their pockets all before formal arrest were sufficient to show that that freedom to leave was restrained.

A number of recent cases lend support to the appellant's argument, under similar factual circumstances. In In re Tony C., 582 P.2d 957 (Calif. 1978), the California Supreme Court considered a case in which a police officer was on patrol in a residential area of La Puente, California during school hours. He noticed two black youths walking along the sidewalk, both about 13 years of age. He made a turn and drove by them again, and saw one standing on a corner, but could not see the other. He drove on and made another turn to come back, and this time saw both of them again. The officer pulled over, stopped the youths, and began to question them about their identities and reason for being in the area. His interrogation led to the arrest of the defendant, one of the youths.

The court first concluded that the defendant was entitled to Fourth Amendment protection at the time he was stopped. It stated:

Because of the limited scope of that invasion in the present context, it need not be supported by the actual belief in guilt required to arrest, book, and jail an individual on a named criminal charge. . . . Yet the interest at stake is far from insignificant: it is the right of every person to enjoy the use of public streets, buildings, parks, and other conveniences without unwarranted interference or harrassment by agents of the law. * * * Balancing these factors, the courts have concluded that in order to justify an investigative stop or detention, the circumstances known or apparent to the officer must include specific and articulable facts causing him to suspect that (1) some activity relating to crime has taken place or is occurring or about to occur, and (2) the person he intends to stop or detain is involved in that activity. Not only must he subjectively entertain such a suspicion, but it must be objectively reasonable for him to do so: the facts must be such as would cause any reasonable police officer in a like position, drawing when appropriate on his training and experience . . . to suspect the same criminal activity and the same involvement by the person in question. The corollary to this rule, of course, is that an investigative stop or detention predicated on mere curiosity, rumor, or hunch is unlawful, even though the officer may be acting in complete good faith. (Terry v. Ohio, supra, 392 U.S. at p.22, 88 S.Ct. 1868) 582 P.2d at 959.

The court noted that the word "detention" is subject to a wide variety of constructions, and that police conduct which merely constitutes "contact" with persons requires no justification at all. However, the court rejected the use of the test by which a "detention" for Fourth Amendment purposes results when a person is not free to walk away from the

encounter, since the subtleties of the situation often make it impossible for the court, by hindsight, to determine whether the victim of the arrest was actually detained or only believed that he was. Instead, the court ruled that a "detention" falls under the protection of the Amendment whenever the police accost an individual whom they suspect to be involved in criminal activity. The court stated:

A more fruitful approach focuses on the purpose of the intrusion itself. If the individual is stopped or detained because the officer suspects he may be personally involved in some criminal activity, his Fourth Amendment rights are implicated and he is entitled to the safeguards of the rule set forth above.

Finding that the officer in that case had stopped the defendant for the very purpose of investigating the defendant's suspected criminal activity, the court held that the Fourth Amendment test would apply, even though the questioning took place openly on a public sidewalk. Furthermore, the court held that the officer could not point to specific facts which justified the approach of the defendant and his questioning. The fact that two youths were walking on the sidewalk during school hours was easily explainable in terms of a number of innocent activities. The fact that there had been several burglaries in the area and that three male blacks were being sought for arrest had nothing to do with the defendant and his companion, who could not at first sight be identified in any way with those burglaries. "A day-old burglary report does not transform a residential

neighborhood into a no-man's land in which any passerby is fair game for a roving police interrogation." Even the fact that the two youths parted company in a suspicious manner did not justify their questioning. The court said:

In short, viewed either singly or collectively, the circumstances known to [the officer] did not support a reasonable suspicion that Tony and his companion were involved in criminal activity when he observed them walking along the sidewalk.
582 P.2d at 963.

The stop and questioning of the defendant was therefore unlawful, though otherwise innocent and in good faith, and all knowledge obtained as a result of that conduct was inadmissible in court. Specifically, when another officer was called to the scene and recognized Tony as a suspect wanted on a warrant, the evidence found when he was searched after his arrest was inadmissible. Though his identification by the other officer did not itself require Fourth Amendment justification, its fruits were inadmissible because the defendant's initial stopping and questioning was illegal.

An almost identical case was decided in the same fashion by the Eighth Circuit Court of Appeals in United States v. Nicholas, 448 F.2d 622 (8th Cir. 1971). There, an officer in Missouri observed a black male sitting at the wheel of a new Cadillac parked in front of a pool hall. While he watched, another black male emerged from the pool hall and entered the car on the passenger side. Noting that the car had Nevada license plates, the officers

approached the individuals to question them about the license plates and about their purpose for being in the area. When one man rolled down the window of the car, the officer immediately smelled marijuana and placed the men under arrest.

Concluding first that the conduct of the officers constituted a "seizure" for the purposes of the Fourth Amendment, the court stated:

[T]he police action here amounted to a "seizure" within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment as interpreted by Terry and Carpenter. Even though Nicholas may have been physically free to drive away when the officers stationed themselves on either side of Nicholas' car and flashed their badges, we find that the actions of the officers constituted sufficient show of authority to restrain Nicholas' freedom of movement.

The court then addressed the issue, reserved in Terry,

[N]amely, whether an investigative "seizure" for less than probable cause, for purposes of "detention" and/or interrogation is constitutionally permissible. 448 F.2d at 623.

The court conceded at first that if the police acted unlawfully in detaining the defendant for the purpose of questioning, then the fruits of that detention, the evidence of the marijuana, would be inadmissible, even though its discovery could be justified otherwise on the doctrine of consent (in that the defendant voluntarily rolled down the window) or the doctrine of plain view (i.e., plain smell). The government contended that police are authorized in momentarily detaining individuals for the purpose of questioning on less than probable cause. The court answered:

In light of these facts, we think that, at best, the police were acting upon a generalized suspicion that any black person driving an auto with out-of-state license plates might be engaged in criminal activity. The momentary detention of a citizen for questioning is not permitted on such scant basis. Id. at 625.

Thus, the court held that though questioning on less than probable cause may be permissible in some circumstances, it was not here, where police could not affirm that they were investigating any particular crime, that they had any information concerning the defendants or their car, that there was any indication of an actual crime in progress, or that there was anything else which pointed substantially to the existence of criminal activity.

The same reasoning, always drawn from the opinion in the Terry case, runs through a number of similar cases. In United States v. Robinson, 535 F.2d 881 (5th Cir. 1976), police officers stopped their car beside another car which was parked by the road, thinking that it contained two detectives whom they were waiting to meet. Seeing, instead, that the car contained two black men, the police concluded that it was the wrong car. But rather than drive on, they approached the men to question them. The court held that such conduct by the police was unlawful. They knew only that the car had been driving slowly, that it was a new car in a poor neighborhood, and that it looked like an unmarked police car. The court stated:

In the instant case, the facts known to the officer at the time he stopped the defendant clearly did not rise to the required level, and in reality were so tenuous as to provide virtually no ground whatsoever for suspicion. . . . In short, the officer simply stopped two black males because they were in a black Chevrolet. This fact alone, without additional reliable evidence sufficient to warrant the conclusion that either or both of the men had been or were involved in criminal activity did not constitute cause to stop the vehicle.

Similarly, in United States v. Mallides, 473 F. 2d 859 (9th Cir. 1973), a reversal resulted on a showing that an officer had stopped for questioning a car occupied by six Mexican-looking men who sat upright and did not turn to look at his car as he drove by. On the reasoning of Terry, the court held the stop of the car unlawful, and also concluded that because the stop was unlawful, the search of the car's trunk, though conducted with the consent of the driver, was also unlawful and the evidence found therein was excludable. The Terry rationale was also the basis of the decision of the Sixth Circuit in Riccardi v. Perini, 417 F.2d 645 (6th Cir. 1969), where officers merely observed a car traveling slowly through an area where burglaries had recently occurred and stopped the driver for questioning. The court held that the stop was unlawful and the fruits thereof inadmissible.

The Tenth Circuit applies the same rule as the cases cited above. In United States v. McDevitt, 508 F.2d 8 (10th Cir. 1974), an officer stopped a truck on the highway in

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