1980

# The State of Utah v. Marvin Whittenback And John Joseph Parrett : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### POINT I

THE INITIAL INQUIRY OF APPELLANTS WAS  
SUPPORTED BY REASONABLE SUSPICION OF  
CRIMINAL CONDUCT AND WAS THUS PERMISSIBLE.

Appellants contend that the initial entry into the Wash Hut and questioning of appellants by Officer Geslison was a violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution in that the officer did not have a reasonable suspicion that appellants were engaged in criminal conduct. Respondent rejects this contention and submits that when the

facts and circumstances are viewed in light of Officer Geslison's knowledge, the officer was justified in making the initial inquiry and questioning of appellants.

The case of Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), upon which appellants rely, established that a police officer may detain and question a person based on information which falls short of establishing probable cause to arrest the person. The facts of Terry are similar in many respects to the case at bar. There, an experienced Cleveland Police Officer, while patrolling on foot, had his attention attracted to two persons who repeatedly walked up and down a street pausing to look into a particular store window each time they passed. The officer suspected that they might be "casing" the store in contemplation of a possible robbery and thus approached the individuals to question them. When they gave evasive answers the officer also frisked them for weapons.

In upholding both the stop and the frisk, the United States Supreme Court wrote:

. . . there is no ready test for determining reasonableness other than by balancing the need to search or seize against the invasion which the search or seizure entails. . . And in justifying the particular intrusion, the police officer must be able to point to specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, reasonably warrant that intrusion.

The Court reserved the issue of when a seizure would be justified for purposes of detention and/or interrogation, Terry, supra, n. 16. In that footnote the Court observed:

Obviously, not all personal intercourse between policemen and citizens involves "seizures" of persons. Only when the officer, by means of physical force or show of authority, has in some way restrained the liberty of a citizen may we conclude that a "seizure" has occurred.

392 U.S. 1, 19, n.16.

Respondent submits that in the case at bar, Officer Geslison's initial entry into the Wash Hut and preliminary questioning of appellants did not constitute a sufficient show of authority nor a restraining of appellants' liberty to constitute a "seizure." Thus, the protections of the Fourth Amendment do not apply to this initial encounter.

In the case of People v. DeBour, 352 N.E.2d 562 (N.Y. 1976), the Court of Appeals of New York recognized that in some circumstances police officers may approach persons to conduct a preliminary inquiry on facts falling short of the "reasonable suspicion" standard of Terry, supra. In Debour, two police officers, while walking down a street soon after midnight, noticed an individual walking towards them on the same side of the street. When the person got within

thirty feet of the officers he quickly crossed the street. The officers also crossed and asked the defendant what he was doing in the area and for identification. Observing a bulge under defendant's jacket, the officers asked him to unzip his jacket, which he did, revealing a loaded revolver in his waistband which the officers seized.

In holding that this conduct did not constitute a "seizure" the Court wrote:

This case raises the fundamental issue of whether or not a police officer, in the absence of any concrete indication of criminality, may approach a private citizen on the street for the purpose of requesting information. We hold that he may. The basis for this inquiry need not rest on any indication of criminal activity on the part of the person of whom inquiry is made but there must be some articulable reason sufficient to justify the police action which was taken.

352 N.E.2d 562, 565.

In deciding a companion case, People v. LaPene, the court indicated how this analysis fits with the "reasonable suspicion" standard:

. . . We bear in mind that any inquiry into the propriety of police conduct must weigh the interference it entails against the precipitating and attending conditions. By this approach various intensities of police action are justifiable as the precipitating and attendant factors increase in weight and competence. The minimal intrusion of approaching to request information is permissible when there

is some objective credible reason for that interference not necessarily indicative of criminality (People v. De Bour, supra). The next degree, the common-law right to inquire, is activated by a founded suspicion that criminal activity is afoot and permits a somewhat greater intrusion in that a policeman is entitled to interfere with a citizen to the extent necessary to gain explanatory information, but short of a forcible seizure. Where a police officer entertains a reasonable suspicion that a particular person has committed, is committing or is about to commit a felony or misdemeanor, this authorizes a forcible stop and detention of that person.

352 N.E.2d 562, 571-572.

Thus, all that is required for an initial confrontation between police and citizens in public places is an articulable, objective reason for the inquiry.

In the case at bar, Officer Geslison had at least sufficient knowledge to justify his entry into the Wash Hut, his preliminary questioning of appellants, and his asking them for identification, under the De Bour standard. In State v. Larson, Wash. App., 587 P.2d 171 (1978), the court applied the De Bour rationale to a factual situation similar to the instant case. In Larson, officers saw several people in a car parked in a no-parking zone in a closed park late at night in an area in which many burglaries had recently occurred. The officers approached the car and asked each occupant

for identification. As the defendant opened her purse to obtain identification, the officers saw and seized a bag of marijuana from the purse. In upholding the trial court's denial of defendant's motion to suppress this evidence, the court stated:

While the presence of individuals wandering abroad late at night or at an unusual hour should not of itself precipitate a police investigation, it is a circumstance justifying suspicion . . . Taking it in combination with factors such as the defendant's being seated in a car parked in a no-parking zone near a closed park in an area, where numerous burglaries had occurred previously, police suspicion of illegal conduct was justifiable. Under such circumstances, the police may ask for identification . . .

587 P.2d 171, 172-173. See also State v. Warner, Ore., 588 P.2d 681 (1978) at 689.

Here, Officer Geslison knew that there had been several thefts committed in the area of the Wash Hut (R. 15) he knew that the appellants were alone inside the laundromat he knew from a previous encounter with appellants that they were from Salt Lake City and that they had on the prior occasion been in possession of contraband and a bag full of coins (R. 66, 147, 155, 160). This gave him at least an "objective credible reason" to enter the laundromat, a public place where he had a right to be and to ask appellants what

they were doing and for identification. There was no seizure or detention of appellants to this point, since the officer did not restrain their freedom to leave. Rather, Officer Geslison's conduct constituted mere "threshold questioning" of the appellants. People v. Gurule, Colo., 471 P.2d 413, 416 (1970).

In the recent case of State v. Marks, Kan., 602 P.2d 1344 (1979), the Supreme Court of Kansas recognized that where an officer does not stop a moving vehicle, but merely approaches the defendant sitting in a parked vehicle there is no detention of the defendant and hence no seizure. In the case at bar, there was also no "stopping" of the appellants since they were stationary in a place of public business at the time when the officer approached. Since appellants did not even have the immediate capability of moving when first approached, as did the defendant in Marks, supra, if there was no "seizure" there, there certainly was no seizure in this case.

Even if this Court finds that Officer Geslison's conduct constituted a "detention" or "seizure" of the appellants, such conduct was justified under the "reasonable suspicion" standard of Terry. Since Terry, most courts have recognized that:

. . . the governmental interest in effective crime prevention underlies the recognition that a police officer may in appropriate circumstances and in an appropriate manner approach a person for investigating possible criminal behavior, even though there is no probable cause to make an arrest.

People v. Mangum, Colo., 539 P.2d 120, 123 (1975) (emphasis added). See also State v. Post, 573 P.2d 153 (Idaho 1978); State v. Folkes, 565 P.2d 1125 (Utah 1977); United States v. Beck, 598 F.2d 497 (9th Cir. 1979). Thus, the Terry standard of "reasonable suspicion" applies to detentions to investigate possible criminal activity.

In State v. Folkes, supra, this Court recognized that:

When a police officer sees or hears conduct which gives rise to suspicion of crime, he has not only the right but the duty to make observations and investigations to determine whether the law is being violated; and if so, to take such measures as are necessary in the enforcement of the law.

565 P.2d 1125, 1127. The Court also reiterated the test applied in Utah as to the propriety of searches and seizures:

It is to be borne in mind that it is not all searches and seizures without a warrant which are proscribed by the constitutional provisions referred to. It is only of a search which is "unreasonable." It is commonly and properly stated that the question as to whether a search is unreasonable depends



upon the particular circumstances; and the question to be answered is whether reasonable and fair minded persons would judge the alleged search or seizure to be unreasonable or oppressive.

565 P.2d 1125, 1127. When viewed in the light of this test, Officer Geslison's conduct in approaching and questioning the appellants was not only "reasonable," but was based on articulable facts giving him reasonable suspicion to believe appellants were engaged in a crime. In such a situation, the officer has a duty to make an investigation into the circumstances. The facts within Officer Geslison's knowledge, detailed above, clearly distinguish this case from cases cited by the appellants where officers were found to have no reasonable suspicion for an initial stop or detention (e.g. In re Tony C., 582 P.2d 957 (Cal. 1978) cited at p.9 of Appellants' Brief). It is simply not true, as appellants assert, that all Officer Geslison knew was ". . . that the appellants were from out-of-town, that they were in an all-night establishment late at night, and that they were doing laundry." Appellant's Brief at p.17. He also had within his mind the information gained from the previous encounter with appellants and the information that several businesses in the area had recently been burglarized. The initial encounter between Officer Geslison was lawful and did not violate appellants' Fourth Amendment rights.

## POINT II

THE REQUEST TO APPELLANTS TO EMPTY THEIR POCKETS, ASSUMING IT WAS A "SEARCH," WAS JUSTIFIED AS INCIDENT TO A LAWFUL ARREST.

Appellants assert that Officer Geslison's request that they empty their pockets was an unlawful search. Although the case law is sparse on this subject, it seems that a request from an officer to a suspect that the latter empty his pockets does constitute a "search." United States v. DiGiacomo, 571 F.2d 1211 (10th Cir. 1978); State v. Garcia, 493 P.2d 975 (N.M. App. 1972). Assuming that the request in this case does constitute a "search," respondent submits that as to both appellants the search was proper as incident to a lawful arrest based on probable cause.

Respondent agrees with appellant that the basic standard for arrest without a warrant was set forth by the United States Supreme Court in Beck v. Ohio, 379 U.S. 89 (1964). This Court has adopted that standard in State v. Hatcher, 1972 Utah 2d 318, 495 P.2d 1259 (1972), wherein the test is stated as follows:

The determination should be made on an objective standard: whether from the facts known to the officer, and the inferences which fairly might be drawn therefrom, a reasonable and prudent person in his position would be justified in believing that the suspect had committed the offense.

495 P.2d 1259, 1260. See also State v. Eastmond, 28 Utah 2d 129, 499 P.2d 276 (1972). In addition, this Court has stated often that the determination as to whether the arrest is based on probable cause is primarily for the trial court and will not be reversed on appeal unless clearly in error. State v. Eastmond, supra; State v. Lopes, 552 P.2d 120 (Utah 1976).

The propriety of a warrantless search incident to a lawful arrest was recognized by the United States Supreme Court in Preston v. United States, 376 U.S. 364 (1964). This Court has also recognized this exception to the general requirement of a warrant for conducting a search. State v. Eastmond, supra; State v. White, 577 P.2d 552 (Utah 1978). It has also been widely recognized that even though the search itself precedes the formality of an arrest, the search is still incident to arrest if at the time of the search the officer had sufficient probable cause to make the arrest. State v. Means, 581 P.2d 406 (Mont. 1978); People v. Terry, 454 P.2d 36 (Cal. 1969); State v. Carroll, 526 P.2d 1238 (Ariz. 1974), in which the Arizona Court held there is no constitutional right to be arrested before a search. In State v. White, supra, this Court wrote:

. . . if such probable cause for arrest exists independent of any evidence obtained as a result of the search, the

fact that the search was conducted before the arrest does not invalidate the search nor preclude its characterization as being incident to arrest.

577 P.2d 552, 553.

Applying these rules to the facts of the case at bar, first, Officer Geslison had probable cause to arrest appellants before he requested them to empty their pockets. As shown in POINT I, supra, he had reasonable suspicion to believe they were committing a crime as he entered the laundromat and questioned appellants. Subsequent to the questioning, Officer Geslison noticed bulges in all four of appellant Whittenback's pockets as well as two lock picks of the type used to open the coin boxes on washing machines resting on the floor below where Whittenback was sitting. (R. 58, 145) This observation verified his earlier suspicion that appellants were stealing money and gave him objectively verifiable probable cause to arrest appellants before he asked them to empty their pockets, cf. Post v. State, 563 P.2d 1193 (Okla. Cr. 1977).

Second, as to appellant Parrett, the search was complete before Officer Mock returned from searching the vehicle and placed appellants formally under arrest. However, since a search preceding arrest may be incident thereto as long as the searching officer had probable cause to arrest,

in this case that search was incident to the arrest. The search of appellant Whittenback was not completed until after the formal arrest and thus does not present the preceding-search problem (R. 149).

Finally, it is well-established that the scope of a search incident to arrest extends to anything unlawfully within the suspect's possession. State v. Jackson, 539 P.2d 906 (Ariz. 1975); Agnello v. United States, 296 U.S. 20 (1925) [fruits of crime]; United States v. Robinson, 414 U.S. 218 (1973). Thus, since the search here produced coins from the washing machines and a machine key with which the crime was committed, the search was not unduly broad (R. 58, 60-61, 64, 152-153).

### POINT III

THE SEARCH OF THE VEHICLE WAS PURSUANT  
TO CONSENT AND WAS THUS LAWFUL.

Appellants argue that the search of their car was unlawful because it was undertaken without a warrant and not pursuant to any exception to the requirement of a warrant. Respondent submits that the threshold question to be answered regarding this issue is whether or not appellants have standing in this Court to challenge the legality of the search.

It has been generally recognized that a defendant has no standing to challenge the legality of a search on appeal where he has no possessory or proprietary interest in the

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